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PREFACE



The trouble with iconic heroes like the Signers of the Declaration of Independence (note the reverential uppercase) is that they’re like stuffed exhibits in museum cases—passed by thousands of children sleepwalking their way through an educational tour, who never visit the signers again. Most of us don’t remember their names.

Heroes also become imbued with virtues we wish on them—such characteristics as honesty, selflessness, and courage in the face of danger. And while it is true that what the signers did was dangerous and could have got them strung up, not all were honest and few if any were selfless. Nearly half of them would much have preferred some kind of compromise with the British. One of them even repudiated his signature. And of course the Brits regarded them all as what would today be called “terrorists.”

One reason for this book is to remind readers briefly of the signers’ flesh-and-blood characters: Some were crooks, some had dysfunctional families, some were involved in financial shenanigans, some were masters at political backstabbing, many were egomaniacs, and a few were just good people.

The other reason for the book is to connect these men to the reader and the modern world. Historical figures are always a surprisingly short distance away in time. You may have heard your grandfather speak of his grandfather, who talked about his grandfather. That’s when the signers lived. They’re close. And not so different from us.

The past feels like a foreign country only because of all those wigs and breeches and strange behavior. But think: In the 1960s men had shoulder-length hair and wore flared pants. In the 1950s, before contraceptive pills, unmarried motherhood was a disgrace. Behind their contemporary fashions and social rules the signers were essentially much like us. Of course marvels like electricity and airplanes and computers would be incomprehensible to them. But if you were transported to the eighteenth century, would you know how to send a letter or even how to write it? How to prepare a quill pen and a sheet of parchment? And how would you dry the ink? What was the equivalent of an envelope? It’s a mistake to think that people in the past were different or stupid just because we don’t think they could handle our modern technology. Given time, even a caveman could learn to use a computer. And, by the way, the Upper Paleolithic was only five hundred grandfathers away.

I’ve tried to link the signers even more directly to us with an approach I’ve been using for thirty years, which has recently become known as “six degrees of separation.” In this way each signer triggers a chain of events that links him to the modern world through a series of connections: Someone he knew knew someone who knew someone, and so on.

These trails through history show how incredibly diverse are the ties that connect us to each other, back and forward in time and space. The network linking the signers and their modern counterparts is peopled by spies, assassins, cuckolds, fraudsters, murderers, the incestuous, bomb-throwers, pillmakers, inventors, artists, musicians, statesmen, royalty, explorers, infanticides, transvestites, counterfeiters, con men, doctors, lovers, heroes, scientists, clergymen, and a host of others. And if you look far enough, you, too, are linked to this network. You are linked to the signers. We all are. It may be a few more than six connections, but not that many more.

In a medium other than print I might have been able to offer each reader (user?) the means to make his own connections so as to become part of the narrative. Perhaps at some point in the future this book will take that form and you’ll be able to make the connections yourself. Meantime, next best (and half-proving the point), I’ve connected each signer to someone or something bearing his name in the modern world.

Why write a book like this? Well, writing beats real work. And I hope you’ll find it diverting. History is where we come from, so it’s worth a look. And as navigators say: you don’t know where you’re going if you don’t know where you’ve been.

And perhaps there’s a more serious reason. In a world fast becoming more interdependent and interconnected, where change happens faster than ever because of the way people and ideas connect, we are all on a communications network of some sort and we feel the effects of change much more quickly than even only a decade ago. Innovation comes so frequently now that by the time you understand how some new gizmo works it’s already obsolete. We need to learn to handle accelerating rates of change by becoming more aware of how change happens. One way to do this is to think more connectedly than we have been educated to do. Because if an event in Uzbekistan is going to cause the closure of the company we work for in Oshkosh, the sooner we find ways to second-guess that event the better for us.

I hope this book will provide an example of interconnected thinking that will encourage you to try it, too.

One last note: Many people believe the Declaration was signed on July 4. In fact that was the date of the congressional vote agreeing to the wording of the document. On July 5 a version was printed and signed by John Hancock (president of Congress) and Charles Thomson (secretary), and this was distributed to state assembles and other interested groups. On July 19 Congress ordered a formal version (in special formal handwriting) to be printed and when this was ready, on August 2, fifty-one delegates finally signed. Five delegates were absent for reasons of ill health or army duties, and these men signed later on. A few congressional delegates never signed.
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CHAPTER ONE

John Hancock




JOHN HANCOCK (MA) was thirty-nine. He was an egomaniac and nobody liked him. He signed first because he was presiding officer of the Continental Congress. You can tell from the size and flamboyance of his signature on the Declaration (biggest by far) why he was unpopular. When he left Congress to the automatic vote of thanks, none of his Massachusetts colleagues would sign it. Somebody called him “pompous, vain and self-important.”

Hancock got what he wanted because everybody owed him money. Thanks to whale oil trade, real estate, and most of all, government contracts he was a mover and shaker, so in 1785 he became seventh “President of the United States in Congress Assembled” (of the ten presidents under the Articles of Confederation). Illness caused Hancock to step aside for the eighth POTUSICA (as the Secret Service might have termed it), Nathaniel Gorham.

Gorham had spent some time on the wild side as a privateer attacking British shipping. What he lacked in public speaking he more than made up for in political smarts, even going so far (in 1786 during a brief, armed insurrection against the Massachusetts government) as to suggest the need for an American constitutional monarch to provide political stability. Gorham approached Prince Henry of Prussia with the offer. No, thanks. Others had the same idea and even major players like Monroe and Hamilton (and some say Washington himself ) sent a delegation to discuss an American royalty with the claimant to the British throne, Prince Charles Edward Stuart (aka “Bonnie Prince Charlie”).

However, long before things came to a regal pass the insurrection in Massachusetts subsided and republicanism looked as if it would survive. Besides, Prince Charlie felt obliged to decline on grounds of poor health—a euphemism for being permanently crocked and beating his wife. At this time Charlie (a legend in his own lunchtime) was living in Florence on overextended credit, playing bad cello, calling himself “Charles III of England” and being regularly visited by you-never-know aristos and various hangers-on with an eye to the main Stuart-comeback chance.

One such visitor was florid, bushy-eyebrows John Moore, ex-Glasgow doctor turned tutor and culture-vulture-tour-of-Europe companion to the umpteenth Duke of Hamilton. The duke dropped in on such eminences as Empress Maria Theresa of Austria, Emperor Frederick the Great of Prussia, and (inevitably) Voltaire. All of which went into Moore’s little notebook and ended up as a multivolume work (“A View of Society and Manners in…”) about what-was-hot-and-what-was-not in demimonde Italy, Switzerland, Germany, and France. Everything a traveling Brit wannabe had to know. The work flew off the shelves and gave Moore overnight literary cred even with such real writers as Dr. Samuel Johnson. And Johnson’s ménage à trois (some say sado-maso) lady friend Mrs. Hester Thrale.

Hester was a tiny, plump, witty Welsh twenty-five-year-old when Johnson met her. Minutes later he had moved in and was great pals with Eton-and-Oxford Mr. Thrale (with whom Hester had a platonic marriage). The lady herself (who had coarse hands but delicate writing) hosted dinner parties for Johnson and his literary cronies, made jokes in Latin, French, Spanish, and Italian, and generally enlivened the otherwise less-than-glamorous house in Deadman’s Place from which Thrale ran his brewery. Until the stroke that killed him and turned Hester into what the papers called an “amorous widow.”

The Anchor Brewery (still going strong today) boasted that it sold ale “from Russia to Sumatra” thanks to Henry Thrale’s business acumen. Which failed him only once, when he tried making beer without hops or malt and lost so much money Hester’s family had to bail him out. But he was canny enough to recognize the value of new technology when he saw it and was the first to use the new hydrometer (introduced by the Excise to measure the alcoholic strength of booze so they could tax it appropriately—initially, to pay for the war against the American rebels; and then for some other excuse).

Hydrometers floated more or less deeply in a more or less alcoholic liquid, and in 1803 the hydrometer developed by Bartholomew Sikes was designated official. A year later, after Sikes had turned up his toes, his widow found that “official” meant an order for two thousand instruments. So she made sure her daughter’s husband, Robert Bate, got the contract. Everybody lived happily ever after. With that kind of backing, Bate was able to branch out and make telescopes, barometers, spectacles, theodolites, the official Troy pound for the U.S. Mint, and anything else required in a world crazy about measurement. Including one gizmo that measured nothing. A toy, really. In 1819 Bate built the kaleidoscope for its inventor, eminent Scottish science buff David Brewster.

Brewster’s little multimedia-before-multimedia was an instant rave. And then was pirated right and left. Story of the ingenious Brewster’s life, really. At a time when there was everything still to discover, Brewster discovered. He also set up the British Association for the Advancement of Science, became an honorary something everywhere, and wrote 299 scientific papers on arcana ranging from spectroscopy to refraction to polarization to crystals to photography. And 1,240 other articles (for the general public) on God, life on other planets, philosophy, railroads, physics, and whatever else was required by the editors of the slew of mags from which Brewster tried to make a living. Alas, all he’s remembered for today is the no-profit kaleidoscope.

On which in 1817 a serious dissertation was penned. “In the memory of man, no invention…ever produced such an effect,” enthused writer and physician Mark Roget, whose feelings of inadequacy drove him to wider interests, in one case, foreshadowing Hollywood. In 1825 Roget wrote that if you saw a moving carriage wheel through a window with a vertical Venetian blind the slats didn’t stop you seeing the wheel rotate persistence of vision being what the eye does to fill the gaps in between the frames of a movie). Roget also filled other gaps. His great Thesaurus, produced in 1852, answered the scribbler’s “tip-of-the-tongue” problem with an exhaustive list of synonyms (similar expressions) useful for every occasion (event).

Similarly useful was Roget’s Library of Useful Knowledge, which included an article on optics by Henry Kater. Who started life measuring large bits of India and was best known for his amazingly accurate pendulum. Gravity affects pendulum swing, and Kater showed that a one-second swing in London required a pendulum 39.13929 inches long. Kater also asked the classic question: “If the universe is infinite then everywhere you look you should see a star. So why is much of the sky dark?”

One answer came from the pen of a man better known for his grisly tales of murder. First thriller writer, poet, critic, and drunk (it killed him) Edgar Allan Poe’s last work, “Eureka,” suggested that if the universe were infinite then the darkness was where stars would be, if they weren’t so infinitely far away that their light never reached us. This was all part of Poe’s Big Bang theory (a hundred years before the Big Bang theory). Poe’s gee-whiz imagining was described by Poe’s editor Evert Duyckinck as “a mountainous piece of absurdity.” Poe wasn’t the only insultee. It was Duyckinck who also called Melville’s Moby-Dick “intellectual chowder.”

For over thirty years Duyckinck ruled the editorial roost in New York, publishing anybody who was anybody (Hawthorne, Melville, Longfellow, Cooper, Irving, et al.) and frightening the rest. And helping to move American literature out from under Eng. Lit. In 1860 Duyckinck produced an anthology of poetry illustrated in England by the Dalziel family of engravers. Back in 1840 they’d done the first edition of Punch magazine and then in 1841 that of the Illustrated London News. The Dalziels kicked off the Victorian mania for the pictorial press and their gilt-embossed Fine Art Gift Books (the original coffee-table adornments) were deemed collectibles while the the Dalziels were still alive.

The Dalziels also reproduced the work of the Pre-Raphaelite Brotherhood, who aimed to go back to the simplicity of art-before-Raphael with painting that was so detailed it was photographic, none more so than the work of Holman Hunt, who even dressed up in Arab costume (in his studio) to paint when he was working in Cairo. He and his fellow traveler Thomas Seddon, both devout Christians, then moved on to Palestine and were so blown away by their first view of Jerusalem on June 3, 1854, that they spent months on works about Jesus that made them both a fortune.

Seddon had arrived in Egypt ahead of Hunt and bumped into (and painted) another great cross-dresser, Richard Burton (on the way to his third Forbidden City, in disguise as an Arab sheikh). Explorer Burton (who claimed to speak forty-six languages and dialects) wrote more travel books than the Blue Guide and his Great Idea was to find the lake that was the source of the Nile. He found the wrong lake but made the front page anyway. After which, in 1861, he became consul in Fernando Po (small dot off West Africa) and then hit the big time with Santos (smaller dot, deepest Brazil).

On cabin-fever escape trips out of Santos to Rio Burton met and conversed in Arabic with Brazilian emperor Pedro II, aka Dom Pedro de Alcantara João Carlos Leopoldo Salvador Bibiano Francisco Xavier de Paula Leocadio Miguel Gabriel Rafael Gonzaga de Bragança e Borbón. A plump bookworm with a dumpy wife (and enjoying the occasional side affair), Pedro aimed to modernize Brazil. To which end he spent years elsewhere looking at police precincts, city waterworks, trains, schools, and (in 1876) the U.S. Centennial Exhibition in Philadelphia. Where he was transfixed by Bell’s telephone (“My God! It talks!”) and spent four hours a day for two weeks looking at every exhibit with Brazilian potential. He missed the lecture by Brit surgeon and antiseptic freak Joseph Lister (of “Listerine”), who was visiting Philadelphia to publicize operating-theater use of his new carbolic antiseptic spray.

In Lister’s audience (as much transfixed by carbolic as Pedro was by telephones) sat Robert Wood Johnson, apprentice pharmacist, who realized there might be a market for a more individualized application of Lister’s idea. Within ten years Robert and his brothers were Johnson & Johnson. Within a century they were a multi-billion-dollar international company. And “Band-Aid” was in the dictionary.

By the 1990s the company was a major supporter of the new National Marrow Donor Program. In 1991, with the aim of increasing public involvement in the program, retired U.S. admiral Elmo Zumwalt established the Marrow Foundation. In 1996 the Zumwalt Community Award went to a Charlotte, North Carolina, radio talk-show host for above-and-beyond work on the bone-marrow drive.

The name of the radio host was JOHN HANCOCK.








CHAPTER TWO

Josiah Bartlett




JOSIAH BARTLETT (NH) was forty-six. A redhead, doctor, judge, and a fine figure of a man who dressed posh (ruffles, silver buckles), Bartlett threw himself into revolutionary matters by stealing Brit gunpowder, after which his militia rank was removed by the royal governor. A year later the governor was out and Bartlett was in. And on every major congressional committee.

Between doctoring (great bedside manner), soldiering (field surgeon), fathering (twelve), administrating (president, New Hampshire), having his house burned down, and losing his wife (most of which he dealt with on horseback or by guttering candle), small wonder he died worn out. But not before his Marine Committee had commissioned the American navy’s first vessel.

Captain of the good ship USS Ranger was John Paul, a sexually hyperactive Scots pirate on the run from a Caribbean murder charge and calling himself Jones. In 1778 Jones took Ranger across the Atlantic to attack Scotland. There followed much hit-and-run stuff up and down the British coastline that included the famous encounter when in response to, “Give up?” Jones did not say, “I have not yet begun to fight,” but something (in French) more like, “Not me. How about you?”

By this time Jones’s exploits (ably puffed by Jones) had made him the darling of French pro-American aristos, and their wives, most notably that of Jacques Donatien le Ray de Chaumont, who held open house for Americans in Paris. Le Ray gave Jones a bigger ship and persuaded the French king to support the American rebels (by doing so Louis XVI bankrupted France and lost his throne). Après la révolution with writing on the wall for the nobility, Le Ray’s son James hightailed it to American citizenship and ditto wife.

In his adopted land he bought large bits of New York state around Otsego (not to be confused with Oswego), became pals with the great and the good (not difficult with a family friend named Ben Franklin), and introduced the locals to French essentials such as merino wool, vines, and silkworms. Key facilitator in all this agribusiness was Judge William Cooper, Le Ray’s land agent and wrestler extraordinaire. For whom Le Ray’s business affairs were a mere bagatelle. Over the years Cooper bought more than 750,000 acres and then sold them to more than forty thousand settlers. Cooper died one of the richest men in America, leaving behind a son (Fenimore) who would become one of the country’s first major novelists by writing about his father’s lifestyle.

Judge Cooper’s sidekick had been fur trader George Croghan (obscure beginnings in Ireland), who used his Native American languages to relieve the natives of their land at knockdown prices even when he was superintendent of Indians under the colonial Brits. Croghan’s technique was remarkably modern: borrow scads of money so as to buy millions of acres, then do the absolute minimum to develop them and sell off the land in highly profitable small bits. So long as the game went your way this was a license to print money. Alas for Croghan, the game in question was the short-lived Brit plan to establish the new colony of Vandalia (see elsewhere) on the banks of the Ohio. When the plug was pulled on the scheme just before the War of Independence, in a flush of foreclosures Croghan went out with the water.

Early on, Croghan’s boss had been commander of U.K. forces in North America General Jeffrey Amherst, who had taken Canada from the French in 1760 and then hired Croghan to deal with the Native Americans. After germ-warfare attempts (giving the tribes smallpox-infected blankets) had failed, the French and Indian War followed and Amherst went home to glory he expected but didn’t get (“a man of incapacity,” it was said). After being made governor of this and that he bumbled his way up to field marshal and sir, stopping only to put down (“bungle,” it was said) the 1780 Gordon Riots in London.

Riot cheerleader Lord George Gordon was a rabid anti-Catholic who led sixty thousand Protestant rioters on an orgy of burning, looting, and prison-breaking in opposition to a new act outlawing discrimination against Catholics. Five days of turmoil saw the mob breaking into distilleries and torching Catholic chapels. Then they headed for the Bank of England. It was time for Amherst to bring in ten thousand troops, who shot and bayoneted the crowd into rapid submission.

Just before the fun and games, the sight of troops bivouacking in Hyde Park was so mind-boggling as to warrant recording by watercolor whiz Paul Sandby. Who had turned the genre into a must-have with his early pix of bucolic Scotland. Returning to London in the 1760s his career went: Royal Academy, views of Windsor Castle, meteoric rise to fame and fortune with “Select Views” of places as unfashionable as Wales. And some (like Ireland) he hadn’t even visited. No matter. Nor had the buyers.

Chief of whom was John Stuart, third earl of Bute, who also got Sandby to immortalize his new stately home, Luton Hoo House (designed by latest-rave architect Robert Adam). Bute retired to books and botany at Luton after a brief and acrimonious career in politics. With more titles and money than you could shake a coronet at, Bute’s job as tutor to the future King George III (and possible affair with George’s mother, and then George’s wife) brought him the prime ministership. Totally out of his political depth, after two turbulent years of backstabbing and tax raises he returned to the backwoods and oblivion. Where he supported intellectuals and writers, organized Kew Botanic Gardens, wrote nine volumes on plants, and visited his brother James in Italy.

James was U.K. minister to the Turin Court. His chargé d’affaires was an enigma named Louis Dutens. For somebody with humble (and worse, French) beginnings, Dutens lived such a charmed life he must have known where bodies were buried. Apart from servicing the Bute family, Dutens was also hanger-on to other nobs and spent years either as traveling companion or house guest to anybody who’d have him. He was almost certainly a government spy and rumor mill. His 1805 memoirs exposed the secret American offer of the U.S. throne to Bonnie Prince Charlie. Dutens also wrote now totally forgotten stuff on history, geography, poetry, and philosophy, produced a study on fire prevention, and was a big fan of Thomas Jones, instrument maker.

In an era of nonstop exploration the secret of navigational success was “gradation,” the little marks on your theodolites that swiveled the gizmos by a specifically teeny amount and made the difference between accuracy and being lost. Such marks were Thomas Jones’s forte, so he was flavor of the month. Especially with his invariable (i.e., bet-the-farm) pendulum, accurate to within splits of second and vital for astronomers.

One such Jones client was Sir Thomas Brisbane, soldier friend of the duke of Wellington and therefore successful. On his return from a job in the Caribbean a near-shipwreck got him interested in better navigation, i.e. more accurate astronomy about the stars you aimed instruments at to work out where you were at sea. In 1820 Brisbane became governor of New South Wales, a place where (because Australia faces toward the center of the galaxy) there were more stars than you could count. So he counted them. By 1825 when he was encouraged to go home (“too pro-convicts” or “too prosettlers,” take your pick), Brisbane had logged no fewer than 7,385 southern-sky stars at the observatory he built in Paramatta outside Sydney. His return to the United Kingdom was followed by the usual gold medals, baronetcies, honorary degrees, and a quiet harrumph retirement.

Meanwhile his Paramatta Catalogue was published by Greenwich Observatory Assistant and major criminal William Richardson. In 1846 the Greenwich astronomical calm was rocked by Richardson’s indictment for having had sex with his daughter Anna Maria and then poisoning the resulting infant, whose tiny body was discovered by workmen clearing Richardson’s cesspit. The newspapers loved it.

Richardson’s boss, Britain’s astronomer royal George Airy, who was having a really bad day for other reasons, fired him. Airy needed a scandal like a hole in the head, being up to his ears in how wide railroad tracks should be, what to do about smoke abatement and gas sales, the design of Big Ben, gravity in coal mines, and all the other things Victorian intellectuals did. Plus a ton of paperwork, the entire reorganization of British astronomy, and the imminent arrival of his ninth child. All this, and on October 21, 1845, a shy young Cambridge astronomer arrived uninvited at Airy’s door with some nonsense about the existence of “something new in the night sky.” A servant accepted the scribble and sent him packing. Airy eventually wrote asking for more details. Too little, too late.

Shy John Couch Adams had done the sums that showed that the orbit of Uranus was being affected by a force that could only be the gravitational field of Another Planet Nobody Had Yet Discovered. Alas for Adams, the same idea had struck a Frenchman, Urbain LeVerrier, who wasn’t so shy and persuaded the people at Berlin Observatory (fancy equipment) to go looking. They found Neptune just where Adams had predicted. Egg remains on Airy’s face to this day.

Adams went far, ending up director of the Cambridge Observatory. In 1864 one of his college pals, Charles Bromby, went farther, i.e., to Tasmania. As bishop there he built Hobart Cathedral. Charles’s older brother John took much the same route. In his case, to Melbourne, Australia, where in 1858 he was the first headmaster of the Church of England Grammar School and hired a passing Yale graduate to teach math. A little earlier back in the States Erastus De Forest had disappeared just before he was due to leave on a trip with his aunt. The New York Times suspected foul play. Two years later his family tracked him down, down under. In 1861 De Forest headed home via India and (wild oats sown) settled down to a quiet and incomprehensible life of statistics.

Twenty-five years later he established a Yale prize in mathematics and seven years after that (in 1893) math-physics undergraduate Lee De Forest didn’t win it, in spite of being a distant family connection. No matter. Lee made his mark with a connection of a different kind. In 1905 he invented the Audion, which boosted feeble electrical signals. So AT&T inserted one of these gizmos every so many miles along the phone line and in 1915 started its long-distance cross-country service. Now you could hear coast to coast.

In 1928 Lee De Forest hired young electronics whiz Allen Dumont. Who at age ten had contracted polio, then read a lot, then became an engineer. By 1939 Dumont was manufacturing the first TV set. In 1945 he set up America’s fourth TV channel, the Dumont Network. Dumont was yet another inventor lacking in business acumen and was eventually bought out by Hollywood. But not before he had garnered an astonishing number of stations across the country (215 in all) that tuned in to his (and the nation’s) number one TV show: Bishop Fulton Sheen’s Life Is Worth Living.

When the series started in 1952 philosopher and theologian Sheen was auxiliary bishop of New York. On the show all he did was give sermons (with the aid of a blackboard, chalk, patriotism, and piety) attacking Godless Communism. The public couldn’t get enough of it. Sheen made the cover of Time and won an Emmy. And he changed the life of a young actor named Ramon Gerard Antonio Estevez.

Who in honor of the bishop took the stage name of Sheen. Beginning in 1999 Martin Sheen starred in the acclaimed TV drama series The West Wing, playing the role of President JOSIAH BARTLET.








CHAPTER THREE

William Whipple




WILLIAM WHIPPLE (NH) was forty-six. With a life of seafaring and commerce behind him, he was already a man of some financial standing when the time came to take a stand. Whipple was an easygoing, unassuming type and might have left history without a mark other than his signature had he not been chosen in 1777 as general of militia to negotiate the terms of surrender by the British after Saratoga. That Brit defeat would bring the French in on the side of the Americans and make independence virtually certain.

Saratoga was the military swan song of experienced British general “Gentleman Johnny” Burgoyne. Heading down from Canada to hit the American rebels (and traveling with thirty carts of personal effects including champagne and a mistress), Burgoyne’s supply line stretched too thin. And his New York reinforcements never materialized. And there were twenty thousand against his six thousand. And it was raining. And the Americans weren’t fighting in a gentlemanly manner. And all the other excuses. So he never stood a chance. Went home to England, recriminations, and a successful playwright career.

Years earlier, before leaving England for America, Burgoyne had already written his first stage piece, a comedy titled Maid of the Oaks, celebrating the marriage of his nephew the earl of Derby. The bash took place at Epsom, just outside London, at the house (“The Oaks”) Burgoyne had leased to the earl. Like Burgoyne, the earl was an inveterate gambler, horse fancier, and steward of the local races. On May 4, 1780, he started a new annual race over a mile and three quarters for three-year-old colts and fillies (prize money in modern terms of about seventy thousand). The name of the race depended on the flip of a coin. Which is why the Derby’s not called the “Bunbury” (as it would have been if the other guy had won the toss).

But Sir Thomas Charles Bunbury’s horse Diomed won that first Derby so he got his own back. Bunbury was the grand panjandrum of English racing, a boozer and (because he spent more time with mare than wife) cuckold. The best thing about Bunbury was his brother, Henry William. By all accounts a charmer. After the obligatory cultural Grand Tour of Europe Henry settled down to the unexacting life of the super-rich, indulging in his hobby, drawing caricatures. His work became instantly collectible because, unlike his acerbic contemporary Hogarth, Bunbury’s drawings never went for the jugular. In 1787 Henry produced The Long Minuet as Danced at Bath, poking fun at dancers in a drawing eighty-four inches long. The first strip cartoon.

Bunbury was also groom of the bedchamber to George III’s second son, and in 1787 at Windsor Castle he met a sad second mistress of the queen’s wardrobe, an unmarried lady in her midthirties with two rave-success novels (Evelina and Camilla) under her belt. And being chased round the garden by the mad king. Fanny Burney resigned the royal job in 1791 and two years later was sad no more. Lightning struck in the form of a dashing Royalist French army officer in exile. Fanny married him and as Mrs. D’Arblay lived happily ever after. Until 1811 when, in Paris, she was diagnosed with breast cancer. Her account of the twenty-minute mastectomy conducted without anesthetic (it didn’t exist and she fainted twice) makes some of the most chilling reading of all time (“I then felt the Knife tackling against the breast bone—scraping it!”).

Holding the scalpel was General Dominique-Jean Larrey, the already legendary favorite surgeon of Napoleon famous for having done two hundred successful amputations in one day during the Russian campaign. Larrey had also invented the battlefield “flying ambulance” in 1797, so he was the soldier’s friend. Good thing, as it turned out, when at Waterloo he was captured by the Germans. About to be shot, he was recognized, taken to Prussian field marshal Gebhard von Blücher, and then sent home with an escort because two years earlier he’d saved the marshal’s son.

Seventy-two-year-old Blücher was an old soldier in every sense. A fanatical leader of cavalry charges, he loved war, drink, women, and gambling. He retired and staged a comeback three times. And toward the end went ga-ga, convinced he was pregnant with an elephant. By 1814 he was so famous an English engineer named a new locomotive after him. Mispronounced by the locals as “Blusher,” it was the first engine to use flanged wheels. When its steam escape valve frightened the horses, engineer George Stephenson sent the steam up the smokestack, thereby boosting the draft, fanning the flames under the boiler, and doubling the power of his engine.

This was one of the reasons Stephenson’s “Rocket” won the 1829 Rainhill locomotive competition. First prize was the contract to haul the first-ever passenger trains running on the new Manchester-to-Liverpool track. Coming second at Rainhill (by a smidgen) was “Novelty,” a loco built by Swede John Ericsson. Who went off in a huff to America and in 1862 would become world-famous for building the semisub USS Monitor.

Ericsson’s first idea for the U.S. Navy had been a propellered frigate. They jumped at it. On February 28, 1844, all seven hundred tons of the screw-driven USS Princeton were floating down the Potomac. On board, the newly invented linoleum flooring and a glitzy champagne get-together featuring President Tyler, Dolley Madison, and the whole Washington in-crowd. The secretary of the navy called for one last shot from the ship’s giant twelve-inch Peacemaker gun. Which exploded. The secretary and five others were killed.

Temporary SecNav replacement Lewis Warrington looked around for safer artillery and found it in the form of John Dahlgren. By 1862 the Dahlgren gun was standard equipment (thick breech, less likely to explode), and Warrington was the Navy’s ordnance maven with the ear of Lincoln. In 1865, now rear admiral and widower, Warrington married forty-year-old Madeleine Vinton, who wrote anonymous novels of a tastefully Catholic kind and was known as the queen of social etiquette. A leading light in the anti-women’s-vote movement (she said for women to be allowed the ballot box would be “immodest” and bad for marriages), in 1878 Madeleine’s name was on the bill that made sure the women’s vote didn’t happen.

Madeleine also spoke several languages, and her translations included a piece by French aristo Charles Forbes de Montalembert. The count was a devout Catholic who spent all his life trying to square several circles: total obedience to Rome but the need for church reform, separation of French Church from State, no religious influence in French education, left-wing politics but respect for the aristocracy. Naturally, he made enemies of everybody. Including the pope, who shut down his newspaper. Montalembert also founded the help-the-poor Society of St. Vincent de Paul and proposed an Ancient Monument Department to save places like Notre Dame cathedral from falling down from decay and neglect.

In 1836 Montalembert married a descendant of St. Elizabeth of Hungary. His wife had breathing problems, so in 1844 Montalembert took her to the healthful climate of Madeira. Where an English clergyman, on the island for similar reasons since the year before, lodged with his wife in a room opposite the cathedral in Funchal. So the two couples met. Like Montalembert, John Mason Neale was Gothic-Revival and social-conscience so they got on like a church on fire. Neale (twenty languages, a believer in head-bump-reading) was so High Anglican he was almost Roman. He also wrote ninety-nine hymns, including “Good King Wenceslas,” as well as several Anglo-Catholic novels, not one of which is remembered.

In 1854 (eight years before death from overwork) Neale founded the Order of St. Margaret for nuns with nursing in mind. By 1870 there were fifty members of the order. By 1887 they had a colonial outpost in Colombo, Ceylon. Where in 1892 one Sister Angela was principal of Bishopsgate School for Christian girls (French, drawing, piano), built on cinnamon-gardens land bought for the diocese by Reg Copleston, “boy” bishop of Colombo (aged twenty-seven).

Reg was keen to involve locals in the church and also became an instant expert on the ancient native language: Pali. The vexed question of whether Pali was Indo-European was settled in 1895 (it was) by the vexed, recently arrived Wilhelm Geiger, German professor who up to this point had only been expert on ancient Persian and the dialect of Baluchistan. So Pali was a snip. Geiger spent six months in Colombo, then translated the ancient Pali chronicle Mahavamsa and wrote the definitive Pali grammar. Not a great read.

Geiger’s son Hans made more of a name by inventing the Geiger counter. He developed the prototype at Manchester U. (in England) so as to be able to count the alpha particles his colleague physicist Ernest Rutherford had found coming off radioactive materials. This led him to investigate how the alpha particles behaved when they hit something. This showed Rutherford (take his word) that there was a ton of power locked up in an atomic nucleus if you could release it. In 1905 Einstein showed how you could do that with e = mc2 (take his word). Seven years later Einstein was a Nobel and had moved on to the relatively more complex matter of general relativity and how gravity affected space (take his word). Einstein was at Zurich Polytechnic at the time.

Where a faculty colleague was Croat organic chemist Leopold Ruzicka (1939 Nobel; hobbies Dutch painters and Alpine plants). Ruzicka was an archnoodler who lived at his workbench and helped to give the world artificial flavors and sex hormones. Which was why in 1931 he was grabbed as director of research and development by the Swiss company Firmenich, for whom he produced the first artificial raspberry taste. And you read it first here.

By 2003 Firmenich was worldwide and flavor of every month with food manufacturers. That year one of their new non–exec. directors was Heinz Imhof (global experience in agribusiness), who in 2002 had resigned from the honorary position of president of the International Food and Agribusiness Management Association (IAMA), a fifty-country organization set up to handle “food-chain” issues.

Imhof’s successor as IAMA president in 2002 came from the Harris Nesbitt Food Group in the United States. His name was WILLIAM WHIPPLE.








CHAPTER FOUR

Sam Adams




SAM ADAMS (MA) was fifty-three. And no fool. They said of him: “Eats little, drinks little, sleeps little, thinks much.” By all accounts a tough guy to go up against on the floor of any House. “Austere” is the word often used in biographies.

Adams was a gamekeeper turned poacher. After starting out as Boston tax collector for the king, he went to the opposite extreme, becoming chief republican agitator and organizer of the Tea Party in Boston harbor. This in spite of the fact that as late as 1774 he was still trying to get the Brits to come up with a Bill of Rights that might save the situation and urging argument in newspapers rather than mobs in streets. The Continental Congress was his idea.

One of Sam’s many admirers was the Marquis de Chastellux. Who came over in 1781 with General Rochambeau in time for the fun and games at Yorktown, when loser Cornwallis and his troops marched out as the band played “The World Turned Upside Down.” Never a truer phrase.

Chastellux was fluent in English and was already a member of the Académie Française for a philosophical thing he’d written. And a version of Romeo and Juliet with a happy ending. The Chastellux chef d’oeuvre was an account of his travels in the United States, 1780–82. Highlights: revolutionary places and people, how American youth was promiscuous and ill-mannered, how American animals were all smaller than European ones, and a suggestion that Hebrew become the official U.S. language. All this translated in 1787 by George Grieve.

After early radical politics in England, by 1781 George had to skip the country for the United States, where he met George Washington, then headed for Paris. Where he became infatuated with (and sexually obsessed by) the recently dead Louis XV’s mistress, Madame du Barry. Whose jewels were stolen during an absence with yet another lover, and in 1792 while du Barry was in London looking for her sparklers, Grieve got the French revolutionaries to seal her house and confiscate her papers (so he could read them) and to make her number one Most Wanted.

On du Barry’s return, the two had a wrestling match in her bedroom and he hauled her off for interrogation. On the way he’s said to have propositioned her, been spurned, and exacted revenge as chief prosecution witness in the case that took her to the guillotine. Like any superstar, Madame du Barry (born Jeanne Becu) had for years lived a life of ups and downs: ex-hooker turned love machine (you name it, she’d do it), royal pillow talk with Louis XV, ambidextrous sexual proclivities, and a plan to establish a chivalrous order for all women who’d had more than ten lovers. Her private papers were dynamite.

Back in 1771 a notorious blackmailer, pimp, and cheap French crook named Morande, living in London at the time, had threatened to publish an exposé of du Barry’s whorehouse beginnings (The Secret Memoirs of a Woman of the Town). King Louis went ballistic. The French police had a private word with their English counterparts, who said awfully sorry they couldn’t stop Morande. But if certain visiting French persons tried to drown, kidnap, or otherwise murder him, the Brits might not notice. Kidnapping failed so Morande was given a very large bribe and a job spying on the Brits. An offer he couldn’t refuse. By 1774 he was helping launder French money and guns over to Boston. By 1781 he was delivering the lowdown on British military secrets and had persuaded James Watt across the Channel to Paris with his (top-secret, “Brit-eyes-only”) steam engine.

The chap who had engineered Morande’s turn-around (and who passed the money over, so Morande would burn the du Barry papers) was himself a turn-around of sorts. The Chevalier d’Eon was small, shapely, and squeaky-voiced and the word passed that he was a woman in male drag. D’Eon was a French diplomat in London and even his boss didn’t know he was working back-channel directly to Louis XV. When XV died and XVI learned of the secret network of XV’s spies (called “The Secret”), he disbanded the network except for d’Eon. Who was by now (confusingly) dressing as a woman (for espionage reasons). XVI said d’Eon could come back to Paris, but only if he stayed in skirts and handed over all his papers (it was suspected he was a double agent, but what cross-dressing had to do with the matter is not clear).

Only after d’Eon’s death did they find out he was, after all, a man. And to prove it there was a testicle in the museum of Dr. John Heaviside, who had been present at the removal. Heaviside, a surgeon at St. Bartholemew’s Hospital in London, was an unoffical collector of bits of his patients, dried, pickled, or injected with wax. He also kept the skeleton of a two-foot-three-inch woman and that of a man with one too many ribs. Heaviside’s anatomical museum was the greatest of the day, even if (as was said) some of his exhibition-case description cards were “bordering on the miraculous.”

Royal surgeon by 1790, at the Eumalian Club Heaviside mixed with the artistic and literary elite: Boswell, Johnson, Reynolds. And Richard Payne Knight. Who spent his life erecting a fake medieval castle-home complete with grounds landscaped to look like a painting (Knight was last-word authority on this “picturesque” art style). Knight blotted his chattering-classes copybook by claiming Homer didn’t write Homer and that the Elgin marbles weren’t really Greek. Worst of all, in his history of priapism he suggested the Holy Cross was a phallic symbol.

As befitted a rich antiquarian-about-town, Knight collected things and people. Including young history-painter Richard Westall (the king was potty about his stuff), who produced 384 major works, achieved membership of the snobby Royal Academy, was revered by continental engravers of his work, and illustrated the books of such as Sir Walter Scott, Robert Burns, and the poisonous Byron.

Westall also knew a real poisoner, name of Thomas Griffiths Wainewright. Art critic and history buff, the bejeweled Wainewright was a self-confessed lover of beauty, cats, and the color green. Also a minor dauber (his paintings of women verged on the pornographic). Wainewright wrote art criticism for the London magazine in such purple prose that even Oscar Wilde called it “a style so gorgeous it conceals the subject.” After an excessive lifestyle had emptied his bank balance, in 1829 Wainewright poisoned his uncle to get the family property. Then in quick succession in 1830 he slipped a fatal drop to his mother-in-law and sister-in-law Helen. Wilde claimed Wainewright confessed to him that murdering Helen was indeed a dreadful thing to do “but she had very thick ankles.”

Finally arrested for the insurance fraud that followed these strychnine efforts, Wainewright was transported to Tasmania, where he died. Relieving the unfortunate Tasman governor John Eardley Eardley-Wilmot (sic) of only one of his many problems. During his term the island received thirty thousand convicts but no money to handle them. It was said that homosexuality was rife. Sixty-year-old Eardley-Wilmot (too liberal for the settlers) was also rumored to hug young girls on sofas and to bring women convicts to Government House for “lewd entertainment.” There were even suggestions of an affair with his son’s fiancée.

The fiancée was not affianced for long. In 1850 the beautiful Julia Sorrel married another (the local education inspector, Thomas Arnold) and headed back to England. Where her new brother-in-law Matthew was on his way from being a minor Victorian poet (“Scholar-Gypsy,” “Sohrab and Rustum”) to being (another) school inspector and then social critic. Matthew Arnold spent thirty-five years on trains to small towns, inspecting schools and marking exams. This humdrum lifestyle was interspersed with trips to the Continent to report on foreign education. Arnold came back from these escapades to attack English stodginess and divide the English into Barbarians (aristos), Philistines (middle class), and Populace (workers).

In Paris Arnold met his hero Charles-Augustin Sainte Beuve. Who had an affair with Victor Hugo’s wife and wrote a novel about it. Sainte Beuve (the first professional literary critic) wrote the kind of beautifully overpolished prose-about-prose that only undergraduates have to read today. Sainte Beuve’s thing: “to understand the work-of you have to know the life-of.” Academician, university teacher, essayist, and senator, he inevitably attended Princess Mathilde Bonaparte’s salon.

The princess was Napoleon’s niece, with a monster Russian husband from whom she was separated (woman-of-character Mathilde left him with his mistress, whom she relieved of her jewels). Mathilde’s salon was filled with talent: Gounod, Delacroix, Flaubert, Pasteur, Berlioz, as well as others then famous, now not so. Now-forgotten stars like Venezuelan Raymondo Hahn, six-year-old child prodigy who played for Mathilde’s guests. Hahn wrote his first and most famous song (now forgotten) at age thirteen. Then went on to write 120 piano works (now forgotten) as well as innumerable “art songs” (now etc.). And, as somebody said, never left the nineteenth century.

In 1894 Hahn met and fell for Marcel Proust, who used him as a character in Remembrance of Things Past, the thirty-two-hundred-page stream-of-consciousness meganovel Proust never finished over his last ten years and which began with the thoughts triggered by the sight of a pastry. Great if you can handle three-page sentences. Homosexual social climber and snob Proust was referred to by a contemporary critic as: “One of those small-time fops in literary heat.” But his powerful expression of a sense of universal decay influenced novelists everywhere.

Apart from inspirational cakes, another of Proust’s literary triggers was a “small mediocre phrase” in a sonata by his pal and fellow homosexual Camille Saint-Saens. Prodigy Saint-Saens played piano at age two, wrote his first song at age five, and spent twenty years as organist in the ultrachic Madeleine church in Paris wowing the crowd with weekly improv on the organ. He loved Roman theater decoration, geology, butterflies, and the occult. And hated the music of Richard Strauss, who in 1919 started the Salzburg Festival with Max Reinhardt.

Born Max Goldmann, the Austrian Jewish actor-producer was known for his great crowd-scene work, led the renaissance of German theater after World War I, and was prolific (452 productions on 23,374 occasions, according to one American academic). Things were going gangbusters for Reinhardt until 1933 when enter stage right the Nazis. After they began removing his assets, including a castle, Reinhardt lit out for Hollywood.

Where he met his old protégé from Berlin days, Ernst Lubitsch. Who by 1922 was making his cinematic name for witty, sarcastic dialogue and zany humor with such stars as Garbo and, later, Jimmy Stewart. And in his 1931 hit: The Smiling Lieutenant, with Claudette Colbert. Who went on to stardom playing opposite Clark Gable in the 1934 Frank Capra classic It Happened One Night.

Originally written as a story for Cosmopolitan magazine by journalist-novelist SAM ADAMS.








CHAPTER FIVE

John Adams




JOHN ADAMS (MA) was forty. Known as “His Rotundity.” A shoemaker’s son turned lawyer, Adams was also known variously as vain, irritable, and cantankerous. The Declaration of Independence was his idea, though he later complained that Jefferson got all the glory. From the outset Adams said he wanted power and “reputation.” In 1797 he got it as the country’s second president, even though back in revolutionary days he had lobbied against the left-wingers in favor of royalist trappings like a lifetime presidency, a hereditary Senate, and personal-fortune requirements for representatives (£100), senators (£300), and governors (£1,000). The idea being to reduce the likelihood of corruption. Hope springs eternal.

In 1798 bribery came back to haunt him during negotiations with the French revolutionaries over their likely help against the Brits (again!), when the negotiators for zee foreign minister demanded a quarter-million back-hander for the man himself and twelve million for la France. Adams said stick it and told Congress about the scam. He referred to the blackmailers as: “X, Y, and Z.” Congress went ape. Things were about to go totally pear-shaped when Napoleon took over in France. Whereupon sweetness and light supervened.

The mysterious X, Y, and Z turned out to be an American banker living in Hamburg and two Swiss. One of whom was J. Conrad Hottinguer. Who in 1816 was witness to a contract signed by thirty-one-year-old Laurent Clerc, a teacher in Paris. The contract (with an American in Europe on a head-hunting visit) was for Clerc to go to Hartford, Connecticut, and teach for three years. Clerc’s career to this point had been remarkably successful, and this contract required him to teach geography, history, Bible studies, arithmetic, and grammar. And sign language, since his pupils would be deaf (and in some cases, dumb).

No problem. Clerc himself was deaf and had been trained at the Paris Institute for those similarly challenged. He had happened to be on a visit to London when he met his future employer, Thomas Gallaudet (whose son later set up what eventually became the modern-day Gallaudet University for the deaf in Washington, D.C.). Gallaudet was in the United Kingdom to check out the Braidwood family schools for the deaf. The Braidwoods (who’d started out in Edinburgh) taught deaf pupils to make sounds by feeling their teacher’s larynx so as to recognize a correct sound when they made it themselves, and by using a small instrument to position their lips, jaw, and tongue. Unfortunately for Gallaudet, Braidwood required nondisclosure, lots of money, and several years’ training for any would-be teacher.

Braidwood’s methods worked remarkably well. In a famous test the famous Dr. Johnson provided a word one and a half feet long long and a deaf Braidwood pupil spoke it perfectly. Another of Braidwood’s Edinburgh pupils, John Philip Wood, was so good he ended up as a qualified accountant in charge of auditing the Excise Office. Where he revealed corruption, incompetence, and expenses fraud on a massive scale.

In 1813 Wood got married, marking another triumph for the Braidwood system and its aim of giving pupils a normal life. Wood’s new wife was the sister of Scotland’s best-known publisher, Robert Cadell, close friend and business partner of Sir Walter Scott. Scott was very big business. As the first successful historical novelist (twenty of his twenty-three books), Scott’s work burst upon an English public fascinated by the Gaelic past it had recently tried so hard to wipe out with the Highland Clearances (a “sheep in, people out” policy that emptied Scotland and filled Canada, and that was carried out in savage retribution for Scotsman Bonnie Prince Charlie and his clans’ having nearly made it to London and the throne). Walter Scott’s novels and their tartan Disneyfication of Scotland sold like hot bannocks, and everybody involved got very rich.

One of the very few times Scott put a foot wrong was in 1818 with Provincial Antiquities and Picturesque Scenary (sic) of Scotland. Which failed in spite of the illustrations by up-and-coming young painter J. M. W. Turner. Who in 1792 had started walking all over the country, doing twenty-five miles a day with his possessions and food in a bag on the end of a stick, producing landcape sketches and watercolors for a magazine. The year after Scott’s book came out, Turner left England (as every painter tried to) for Rome and the Great Experience. After a few weeks of the usual Old Masters copying, Turner developed his own style and changed the world of painting. His scrapings, blottings, wipings, and scratchings of the wet paint created dreamlike visions of light and color unlike anything that had gone before (take a look at The Fighting Temeraire).

During another trip to Rome, in 1819, Turner also made the obligatory visit to the new excavations at Herculaneum, where he met and dined with Sir Humphry Davy, big science cheese and the darling of London beauties, who flocked to his lectures at the Royal Institution. Davy isolated potassium and sodium, invented a miner’s lamp, won a Napoleonic prize (even though there was a war with Napoleon at the time), and wrote the definitive Agricultural Chemistry. And wasn’t boring. Davy was in Herculaneum trying to unroll Roman papyrus documents stuck together by the Vesuvius eruption and seventeen-hundred-plus years in the ground. After six months’ effort, in the face of Italian obstructiveness and a chemical solution that wasn’t the solution, Davy was the only thing to come unglued and left.

So did his sidekick Peter Elmsley. At 240 pounds, Elmsley was known as the fattest undergraduate of his day. As genial as he was obese, Elmsley (rich, Oxford, sinecure vicarage) indulged in two pleasures: food and ancient Greek. Years of digging in Italian libraries for manuscripts by Sophocles and Euripides turned Elmsley into the leading Greek scholar in Britain. In 1822 he applied for the chair of divinity at Oxford. He didn’t get it. Second prize was the offer of the bishopric of Calcutta. No thanks.

This left the job to Reginald Heber. An altogether more qualified man since he was a full-time divine, was married to a cathedral dean’s daughter, had traveled widely, and was gung-ho to get the word out to the idol-worshipping heathens. Heber ended up spending only three hectic years in India involved with the poor and needy as well as dealing with the “predicaments of Indian Princes” (caused by the gradual removal, by the Brits, of their princely authority and valuables) and generally overdoing it until he expired in a bath. But not before writing fifty-seven hymns. One of which, “Greenland’s Icy Mountains,” would be set to music by the man who wrote twelve hundred hymns of his own and singlehandedly created a musical culture in American schools. Or (depending on your view) singlehandedly destroyed a flourishing indigenous musical tradition (“backwoods” and “unscientific,” he called it).

Lowell Mason’s “Better Music” movement started in Boston (where he founded the Academy of Music), then spread to every school curriculum throughout the country. It earned him America’s first doctor of music degree. Mason’s approach to music teaching (based on European classical music) was influenced by an 1837 European visit to an obscure Swiss named Johann Naegeli (Mason arranged two of his hymns). Naegeli was the inventor of the Swiss choir and wrote dozens of tunes for the Swiss Reformed Church. And inspired Mason by his classroom methods. Which were inspired in turn by another Swiss, Heinrich Pestalozzi. Who inspired everybody.

Pestalozzi believed in teaching children through direct experience of life. Observation led to awareness led to measurement led to description led to writing. No books, no timetables, no punishment, no teachers (except other kids). It seemed to work. His school at Yverdon in Switzerland became the radical-chic must-see after it opened in 1805. Glitzy visitors included the Russian ambassador. Confusingly, a Greek. John Capodistria’s meteoric rise took him (in only eighteen years) from obscure Corfu doctor to Russian foreign minister to first republican Greek head of state. After which (in 1831) he was assassinated for insulting somebody’s family honor. Whereupon the Brits, Russians, and French opted for a (less-precarious, they thought) monarchy and installed Otto I. Confusingly, a German.

Seventeen-year-old Otto was the son of King Ludwig I of Bavaria and spoke about as much Greek as he did Sanskrit. Accompanying him were three regents: two nonentities and Count von Armansperg. Who’d made enemies cleaning up Bavarian government finances and would soon do the same for Otto. Once Otto reached the age of throneship he spent more time thinking up regulations for chimneysweeps than running cabinet meetings. The London Morning Chronicle described his reign as “incompetence and imbecility.” Crime levels rose and carriage-jacking happened right outside the Royal Palace, where nonstop full-dress balls were held. Athens University was opened with thirty-three professors and fifty-two students. And the medieval city was indiscriminately destroyed by German archeologists so as to leave the Greek ruins looking like museum pieces. Eventually the exasperated Greeks ran Otto and von Armansperg out of town.

In 1853 Armansperg’s daughter Princess Caroline arrived in Hoboken, New Jersey, where she met and married Julius Froebel, himself on the run from a death sentence in Germany for his involvement in the 1848 revolution. Froebel (mineralogist, educator, and revolutionary) spent several years in Central America becoming the authority on Mayan architecture and linguistics. He and Caroline ended up in Algeria.

Julius’s brother Karl went further, becoming a fervent supporter of Karl Marx, an educator setting up kindergartens in Prussia (the schools were banned), and finally a political exile in Edinburgh, Scotland. Where in 1875 he opened a school. In 1898 one of his little pupils was Clementine Hozier (she remembered the school as “a strong smell of haddock”). Hozier was the granddaughter of the tenth earl of Ainslie and known for her beauty. In 1908 after a classic whirlwind romance she married a young politico on his way up, then down, then up again.

The second up took him all the way, and in 1940 Winston Churchill was prime minister just in time to lead Britain through World War II. Churchill’s director of atomic energy research was physicist John Cockcroft, who after the war ran the U.K. Atomic Energy Research Establishment. In 1953 Cockroft sent a young man to Geneva to help design and build CERN’s first proton synchrotron, in which atomic particles were (and still are) smashed into each other at high speed.

In 1975 Cockcroft’s young protégé became CERN’s director general. His name was JOHN ADAMS.








CHAPTER SIX

Robert Treat Paine




ROBERT TREAT PAINE (MA) was forty-five. And the only signer who’d been to Greenland (back in the 1750s). He’d then given up whaling for the law (no fool). After which, as a circuit judge, he rode the back trails to other remote spots in Massachusetts. According to Benjamin Rush, in Congress Paine “rarely proposed anything and opposed nearly everything anybody else proposed.” Paine was cautious, pragmatic, blimpish, and not entirely certain that an all-out revolution was the right way to go. In 1775 he signed the “Olive Branch Petition” to George III, looking for a way to “avoid the impending calamities that threaten the British Empire.” His Majesty binned the petition. So calamities happened.

Well before the independence dust had settled, Paine (with Washington, Franklin, Jefferson, and Hamilton) was thinking ahead to a world in which the country would have to earn a living. So in 1780 in Boston they all set up the American Academy of Arts and Sciences to kick-start the economy (i.e., agriculture). In 1784 the academy offered membership to a passing Italian, Count Luigi Castiglione. Who then disappeared for three years and came back with a giant diary of his trip through the mid-Atlantic states. The work featured plants, animals, and topography as well as Native Americans and their languages. It also included the prediction that America would one day be a superpower.

Of course, Castiglione was then granted membership in the eggheads’ think tank, the American Philosophical society in Philadelphia. The society founder’s son, William Bartram, had already done Castiglione’s trip years before. Between 1773 and 1776 he had gone as far west as Baton Rouge, fought alligators and hostile locals, and returned to open a Botanical Garden that’s still open today. He reported that things were changing fast. In the Southeast where there had once been 1.3 million Native Americans, by the time of Bartram’s visit the native population was dropping below forty thousand. While not exactly using terms like “noble savage,” Bartram’s romantic description of Native Americans and their pristine wilderness home influenced the ideas of such as Wordsworth and Coleridge.

By 1785 Bartram’s Botanical Garden in Philadelphia was attracting the great and the good. And the foreign, in the personage of André Michaux. Whose mission to America in 1786 (for Louis XVI) was to find and ship back to France lots of small saplings that would one day be big oaks that would one day be the French navy. To which end Michaux set up a plant nursery in downtown Hackensack, New Jersey. Ho-hum stuff for a guy who’d already done Turkey, Syria, Iran, and Afghanistan.

Soon Michaux was off again (as they all were) south and west, shipping back to France such esoteric amazements as cranberries and sweet potatoes. Alas just as Michaux was beginning to enjoy things, Louis XVI lost his head and the revolutionaries stopped Michaux’s paycheck. By 1800 his savings had run out and he was back in Paris. No slouch: A quick change of clothes and he was off again, this time for Australia. He never made it. On the island of Mauritius, after a row with the boss, he jumped ship.

Good news for Captain Nicholas Baudin, whose expedition into the unknown (back then, the excitement equivalent of the Apollo missions) had even attracted intellectual stowaways, and for Baudin, Michaux’s disappearance just meant one fewer mouth. Baudin had cut his naval teeth in the Caribbean during the War of Independence, then brought back ostriches and zebras from South Africa for the Austrians, then returned on a French expedition to the Caribbean. From there, the homeward-bound cargo had included 450 stuffed birds, 4,000 butterflies and insects, and 8,000 plants. So Baudin’s present trip to Australia was a mere exploratory jaunt.

One of Baudin’s key Australian aims was to see if Tasmania was an island and anyway claim it for France. Alas, on April 9, 1802, in Encounter Bay, South Australia, Baudin encountered HMS Investigator coming round the other way. With bad news. Investigator had just sailed round Tasmania, called it an island, and claimed it for the Brits. Investigator’s captain, Matthew Flinders, was one of those “been there, done that” types. He had taken breadfruit trees from Tahiti to Jamaica with the infamous Bligh (Mutiny on the Bounty) and done five years circumnavigating Australia (the name was his idea) so he was laid-back enough to lower a cutter, row over to Baudin’s Géographie, and chew the fat for a while.

Meanwhile, back on Investigator, young William Westall was busy drying out his paper and applying wet paint to the latest lot of sketches. Westall was the ship’s landscape artist (necessary in a time without cameras) and was later said to be lazy because his natural history colleague Ferdinand Bauer painted a thousand plants and two hundred animals but Westall only managed 120 views, including the first of aborigines. On his return to London in 1804 (via China and India), these pieces got him into the Royal Academy. After which Westall went northeast to paint the Lake District and impress Wordsworth. After that a nervous breakdown. After that in 1820 marriage to a young woman who, fortunately for a disorganized noodler like Westall, was to be his rock.

No surprise. Her brother was Adam Sedgwick, professor of geology at Cambridge, general science bigwig (friend of Queen Victoria, Royal Commission on University Reform). And leading light in the great strata row. If rock strata were the-older-the-deeper then how about strata on mountaintops? And the fossils in them? Sedgwick (who is said to have uttered the phrase, “I shall leave no stone unturned”) thought history was one long series of catastrophic events that reshaped the Earth’s surface and threw up mountains. And sometimes if some species got wiped out God had to start them off again. Or replace them. So when Sedgwick’s pupil Darwin came up with evolution, Sedgwick didn’t like it.

In 1819 Sedgwick set up the Cambridge Philosophical Society with math colleague George Peacock. George was another one of those do-everything Victorian nerds (weights, measures, education reform, coinage, Gothic cathedral restoration). George’s big moment came when he read a French math book and realized (and said so, loudly) that the French way of writing calculus (dx/dy) was better than Newton’s. You could hear the appalled silence as far away as Oxford. George persisted. He finally got his professorship and gave lectures on astronomy (standing room only) and on dx/dy (not a soul).

Small wonder, then, when French boffin Jean-Baptiste Biot (inventor of the saccharimeter for measuring the sweetness of molasses, who calculated the speed of sound through air and sewage pipes and who thought Newton was the bee’s knees) turned up in Cambridge, he and George had a bit of a calculus contretemps. Such rows were nothing new for Biot, who had recently been enjoying more of the same in the Shetland Islands with a bunch of Brit surveyors who were there to cooperate with Biot’s French survey team on the same set of geodesic observations (to see how different their results would be). The boss of the Brit team, Thomas Colby, argued with Biot so much that Colby did his observing on a different island, thus confounding the entire purpose.

In 1824 Colby (one hand, but dexterous, they said) went off to measure the topography around Belfast. Or tried to. Looking though the murk at some distant hilltop, all they were seeing was murk. Until Colby’s young sidekick Thomas Drummond produced a gizmo that burned magnesium and lime in front of a parabolic mirror, producing a light of such amazing brightness you could see it even through Irish weather. In next to no time Drummond’s light was in lighthouses, saving ships from sinking without trace. And, from the same fate in theaters, actors. Who took to limelight with all the abandon of an alcoholic in a brewery.
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